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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
STATE OF NEW YORK,
STATE OF CONNECTICUT,
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA,
STATE OF DELAWARE,
STATE OF MAINE,
STATE OF MARYLAND,

CASE NO.: 2:23-cv-01495
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS,

COMPLAINT
STATE OF MICHIGAN,
STATE OF MINNESOTA,
STATE OF NEVADA,

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE,
STATE OF NEW JERSEY,
STATE OF NEW MEXICO,
STATE OF OKLAHOMA,
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STATE OF RHODE ISLAND,
and
STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiffs,
V.
AMAZON.COM, INC., a corporation,

Defendant.
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Plaintiffs Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and the states of New York, Connecticut,
Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Nevada, New
Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Oregon, Rhode Island, and Wisconsin, by and
through their respective Attorneys General (together, the “State Plaintiffs,” and collectively with
the FTC, “Plaintiffs”), petition this Court pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade
Commuission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b); 15 U.S.C. § 26; and applicable state laws for
equitable relief against Defendant Amazon.com, Inc. (“Amazon”) to undo and prevent its unfair
methods of competition in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a); Section 2
of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2; and state competition and consumer protection laws.

L NATURE OF THE CASE

L. The early days of online trade were bursting with possibility. Competition
flourished. A newly connected nation saw a wide-open frontier where anyone with a good idea
would have a fair shot at success.

2. Today, however, this wide-open frontier has been enclosed. A single company,
Amazon, has seized control over much of the online retail economy.

3. Amazon 1s a monopolist. It exploits its monopolies in ways that enrich Amazon
but harm its customers: both the tens of millions of American households who regularly shop on
Amazon’s online superstore and the hundreds of thousands of businesses who rely on Amazon to
reach them.

4, For example, Amazon has hiked so steeply the fees it charges sellers that it now
reportedly takes close to half of every dollar from the typical seller that uses Amazon’s
fulfillment service. Amazon recognizes that sellers find “that it has become more difficult over
time to be profitable on Amazon” due to Amazon’s ||| |} BREEEEEEEEE But 2s one seller

explains, “we have nowhere else to go and Amazon knows it.” Amazon has also || N
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through a JJjjjjiij operation called “Project Nessie.”
Amazon’s Project Nessie has already
extracted over | I {rom American households.

3. In addition to overcharging its customers, Amazon is degrading the services it
provides them. Amazon’s online storefront once prioritized relevant, organic search results.
N A rmazon shifted gears so that it
now litters its storefront with pay-to-play advertisements. Amazon executives internally
acknowledge this creates || | I by m2king it
N  TLis practice, too, harms

both sellers and shoppers alike. Most sellers must now pay for advertising to reach Amazon’s
massive base of online shoppers, while shoppers consequently face less relevant search results

and are steered toward more expensive products. Notably, Amazon has increased not only the

number of advertisements it shows, but also |G
Y D cause Amazon can

extract billions of dollars through increased advertising despite worsening its services for
customers.

6. In a competitive world, Amazon’s decision to raise prices and degrade services
would create an opening for rivals and potential rivals to attract business, gain momentum, and
grow. But Amazon has engaged in an unlawful monopolistic strategy to close off that
possibility.

% This case 1s about the 1llegal course of exclusionary conduct Amazon deploys to
block competition, stunt rivals’ growth, and cement its dominance. The elements of this strategy
are mutually reinforcing. Amazon uses a set of anti-discounting tactics to prevent rivals from

growing by offering lower prices, and 1t uses coercive tactics involving its order fulfillment
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service to prevent rivals from gaining the scale they need to meaningfully compete. Amazon
deploys this interconnected strategy to block off every major avenue of competition—including
price, product selection, quality, and innovation—in the relevant markets for online superstores
and online marketplace services.

8. Amazon’s course of conduct has unlawfully entrenched its monopoly position in
both relevant markets. According to an industry source, Amazon now captures more sales than
the next fifteen largest U.S. online retail firms combined. Yet Amazon has violated the law not
by being big, but by how it uses its scale and scope to stifle competition.

9. A critical mass of customers is key to powering what Amazon calls its
“flywheel.” By providing sellers access to significant shopper traffic, Amazon is able to attract
more sellers onto its platform. Those sellers’ selection and variety of products, in turn, attract
additional shoppers. More shoppers yield more customer-generated product ratings, reviews,
and valuable consumer data for Amazon to use. All of this enables Amazon to benefit from the
accelerated growth and momentum that network effects and scale economies can fuel.

10.  The biggest threat to Amazon’s monopoly power would be for a rival to attract its
own critical mass of dedicated customers. Competitors able to build a sizable base of either
shoppers or sellers could spin up their own “flywheels,” overcome barriers to entry and
expansion, and achieve the scale needed to compete effectively in the relevant markets. As Mr.
Bezos once wrote, “[o]nline selling (relative to traditional retailing) is a scale business
characterized by high fixed costs and relatively low variable costs. This makes it difficult to be a
medium-sized e-commerce company,” and it is “difficult . . . for single-category e-commerce
companies to achieve the scale necessary to succeed.” In order to “build an important and
lasting company . . . online in e-commerce,” Mr. Bezos explained, “you have to have a scale

business,” because “[t]his kind of business isn’t going to work in small volumes.”
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11. Having gained its own critical mass of both shoppers and sellers, Amazon set out
to deny both current and would-be rivals the ability to do the same.

12.  Amazon uses its vast power, size, and control over multiple business units to
implement an interrelated and exclusionary course of conduct. Each element of this overarching
strategy aims at the same goal: to keep rivals from gaining the scale needed to compete
effectively against Amazon. And each element amplifies the force of the rest, in a self-
reinforcing cycle of dominance and harm.

13.  One set of tactics stifles the ability of rivals to attract shoppers by offering lower
prices. Amazon deploys a sophisticated surveillance network of web crawlers that constantly
monitor the internet, searching for discounts that might threaten Amazon’s empire. When
Amazon detects elsewhere online a product that is cheaper than a seller’s offer for the same
product on Amazon, Amazon punishes that seller. It does so to prevent rivals from gaining
business by offering shoppers or sellers lower prices.

14.  Originally, Amazon imposed explicit contractual requirements barring all sellers
from offering their goods for lower prices anywhere else. After European regulators began
investigating, Amazon got rid of these requirements in Europe. After a U.S. senator called for
antitrust scrutiny, Amazon did the same in the United States in 2019.

15.  Amazon recognized that dropping an explicit contractual requirement while
continuing to use other anti-discounting tactics would appear “not only trivial but a trick and an
attempt to garner goodwill with policymakers amid increasing competition concerns.”

16. But Amazon has done just that. It continues to use—and add—other anti-
discounting tactics to discipline sellers who offer lower-priced goods elsewhere. The sanctions
Amazon levies on sellers vary. For example, Amazon knocks these sellers out of the all-

important “Buy Box,” the display from which a shopper can “Add to Cart” or “Buy Now” an
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Amazon-selected offer for a product. Nearly JJjj% of Amazon sales are made through the Buy
Box and, as Amazon internally recognizes, eliminating a seller from the Buy Box causes that
seller’s sales to “tank.” Another form of punishment is to bury discounting sellers so far down in
Amazon’s search results that they become effectively invisible. Still another 1s ||| NN
N ot
especially important sellers, Amazon keeps in place a targeted version of the contractual
requirement it supposedly stopped using in 2019. If caught offering lower prices elsewhere
online, these sellers face the ultimate threat: not just banishment from the Buy Box, but total
exile from Amazon’s Marketplace. As Amazon internally admits, these tactics have a |
I 20d many sellers “live in constant fear” of them.

17.  Moreover, Amazon’s one-two punch of seller punishments and high seller fees
often forces sellers to use their inflated Amazon prices as a price floor everywhere else. As a
result, Amazon’s conduct causes online shoppers to face artificially higher prices even when
shopping somewhere other than Amazon. Amazon’s punitive regime distorts basic market
signals: one of the ways sellers respond to Amazon’s fee hikes is by increasing their own prices

off Amazon. An executive from another online retailer sums up this perverse dynamic:

Amazon’s anti-discounting conduct | EG—G
I A azon’s illegal tactics mean that when Amazon raises its

fees, others—competitors, sellers, and shoppers—suffer the harms.

18.  Amazon’s tactics suppress rival online superstores’ ability to compete for
shoppers by offering lower prices, thereby depriving American households of more affordable
options. Amazon’s conduct also suppresses rival online marketplace service providers’ ability to
compete for sellers by offering lower fees because sellers cannot pass along those savings to

shoppers in the form of lower product prices.
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19. These various anti-discounting tactics constrain sellers operating on Amazon’s
third-party business unit, through which sellers set their own product prices. But Amazon also
operates an enormous first-party arm, which accounted for 40% of its overall unit sales in the
second quarter of 2023, as shown in Figure 1. Using its direct control over these prices, Amazon
created another anti-discounting tool to weaponize its first-party arm in its campaign against

competition.

Percentage Of Unit Sales On Amazon From Third-Party
Marketplace Sellers vs. Amazon First-Party Retail

% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

B Third-Party Sellers on Amazon Amazon First-Party Retail

Figure 1. Source: Amazon Q2 2023 Earnings Call.

20.  Amazon has implemented an algorithm for the express purpose of deterring other

online stores from offering lower prices. |G

Rather than trying to compete, Amazon uses | NN

Ultimately, this conduct is meant to deter
rivals from attempting to compete on price altogether—competition that could bring lower prices

to tens of millions of American households. As a result of this conduct, Amazon predicted,

“prices will go up.” | 2 2zon’s prediction has borne out and the
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algorithm has worked just as [Jjj envisioned: suppressing price competition by disciplining rival
retailers who dare to discount.

21.  Amazon’s various anti-discounting tactics upend the normal give-and-take
process of competition. Even rivals that offer lower-cost marketplace services struggle to attract
sellers and watch as sellers hike prices on their storefronts due to fear of Amazon’s penalties.
Many sellers raise their prices off Amazon to avoid punishment. Others never try discounting in
the first place; fear of retribution by Amazon drives them to preemptively set higher prices
everywhere. Still others simply stop—or never start—selling anywhere other than Amazon to
avoid any possibility of Amazon’s sanctions.

22. By taming price cutters into price followers, Amazon freezes price competition
and deprives American shoppers of lower prices.

23.  Alongside these anti-discounting tactics, Amazon also goes a step further and

I A 12zon created a ] algorithm internally codenamed
“Project Nessic" |

Amazon has deemed Project

Nessie | I : it has generated more than [ i» excess profit for

24.  Amazon deploys yet another tactic as part of its monopolistic course of conduct.
Amazon conditions sellers’ ability to be “Prime eligible” on their use of Amazon’s order
fulfillment service. As with Amazon’s anti-discounting tactics, this coercive conduct forecloses
Amazon’s rivals from drawing a critical mass of sellers or shoppers—thereby depriving them of

the scale needed to compete effectively online.
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25.  Amazon makes Prime eligibility critical for sellers to fully reach Amazon’s
enormous base of shoppers. In 2021, more than [Jjj% of all units sold on Amazon in the United
States were Prime eligible.

26.  Prime eligibility is critical for sellers in part because of the enormous reach of
Amazon’s Prime subscription program. According to public reports, Mr. Bezos told Amazon
executives that Prime was created in 2005 to “draw a moat around [Amazon’s] best customers.”
Prime now blankets more than % of all U.S. households, with its reach extending as far as
jJll%° in some zip codes.

27.  Amazon requires sellers who want their products to be Prime eligible to use
Amazon’s fulfillment service, Fulfillment by Amazon (“FBA”), even though many sellers would
rather use an alternative fulfillment method to store and package customer orders.

28.  Many sellers would also prefer to “multihome,” simultaneously offering their
goods across multiple online sales channels. Multihoming can be an especially critical
mechanism of competition in online markets, enabling rivals to overcome the barriers to entry
and expansion that scale economies and network effects can create. Multihoming is one way that
sellers can reduce their dependence on a single sales channel.

29. Sellers could multithome more cheaply and easily by using an independent
fulfillment provider—a provider not tied to any one marketplace—to fulfill orders across
multiple marketplaces. Permitting independent fulfillment providers to compete for any order—
on or off Amazon—would enable them to gain scale and lower their costs to sellers. That, in
turn, would make independent providers even more attractive to sellers seeking a single,
universal provider. All of this would make it easier for sellers to offer items across a variety of

outlets, fostering competition and reducing sellers” dependence on Amazon.
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30.  But by coercively conditioning access to an enormous base of shoppers on sellers’
use of FBA, Amazon forecloses that world.
31.  Amazon caught a glimpse of this alternative universe when it temporarily relaxed

its coercive conduct. As Amazon recognized, this decision was immediately popular with both

shoppers and sellers. But internally, I
I (hat would threaten Amazon’s monopoly power. An
Amazon executive explained |G

32. To combat this competitive threat, Amazon resumed its coercive fulfillment
conduct: today, virtually all sellers must use Amazon’s proprietary FBA service to fully reach
Amazon’s enormous base of U.S. shoppers.

33.  Each element of Amazon’s monopolistic strategy works to keep its rivals and
potential rivals from growing, gaining momentum, and achieving the scale necessary to
meaningfully compete against Amazon. The cumulative impact of Amazon’s unlawful conduct
1s greater than the harm caused by any particular element. Each aspect of Amazon’s strategy
amplifies the exclusionary effects of the others, further insulating Amazon from meaningful
competition and further widening the gulf between Amazon and everyone else.

34. Together, this self-reinforcing course of conduct blocks every important avenue
of competition. With its monopoly power cemented, Amazon is now extracting monopoly
profits without denting—and instead while growing—its monopoly power. Amazon has

consistently hiked the prices it charges sellers, as shown in Figure 2.
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Figure 2. Source: Amazon Internal Documents.

35.  Amazon’s price hikes in the form of pay-to-play advertisements have been
enormously lucrative, leading its revenues from U.S. ad sales to skyrocket from il i
2015 to N i~ 2021. Amazon took m [l i» revenue from U.S. Marketplace
seller fees in 2021 alone. Strikingly, these seller fees now account for over Jj%¢ of Amazon’s
total profits. Sellers pay. Shoppers get lower-quality search results for higher-priced products.
Only Amazon wins.

36.  In a market free from anticompetitive restraints, Amazon’s choice to exploit its
monopoly power would create openings for rivals to enter, grow, and meaningfully compete.
Rival online marketplaces could draw sellers by offering them lower fees or better terms, and
sellers could pass along those lower costs to American shoppers in the form of lower prices.
Rival online superstores, meanwhile, could draw shoppers by offering better prices, greater
selection, or a superior shopping experience. But Amazon’s illegal course of conduct shields

Amazon from the competitive checks it would face in a free enterprise system.
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37.  Amazon’s illegal monopolistic strategy is paying off for Amazon, but at great cost
to tens of millions of American households and hundreds of thousands of sellers.

38.  Left unchecked, Amazon will continue its illegal course of conduct to maintain its
monopoly power. That conduct will include—but will not necessarily be limited to—the
schemes it uses today. As Mr. Bezos has said, “on matters of vision we are stubborn and
relentless,” but “[o]n the details, we at Amazon are always flexible.”

39. Plaintiffs bring this lawsuit despite Amazon’s extensive efforts to impede the

government’s investigation and hide information about its internal operations. Amazon

executives systematically and intentionally || N

= of the Signal messaging app. Amazon prejudicially | N

despite Plaintiffs’ instructing Amazon not to do so.

40.  Plamtiffs now ask this Court to put an end to Amazon’s illegal course of conduct,
pry loose Amazon’s monopolistic control, deny Amazon the fruits of its unlawful practices, and
restore the lost promise of competition.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

41. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 5(a)
of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), 15 U.S.C. § 26, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 1345, and
supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). This Court’s exercise of
supplemental jurisdiction over State Plaintiffs’ state law claims will avoid unnecessary
duplication and multiplicity of actions and will promote the interests of judicial economy,
convenience, and fairness.

42. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Amazon because Amazon has the

requisite constitutional contacts with the United States of America pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).
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This Court also has personal jurisdiction over Amazon because it maintains its corporate
headquarters in Washington, does business in Washington, and has engaged in the illegal
conduct alleged herein in Washington, including by making corporate decisions challenged in
this matter from its corporate headquarters in Washington.

43.  Amazon’s general business practices, and the unfair methods of competition
alleged herein, are activities “in or affecting commerce” within the meaning of Section 5 of the
FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45.

44.  Amazon is, and at all relevant times has been, a corporation, as the term
“corporation” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.

45.  Venue in this district is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 22, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c),
and (d), and 15 U.S.C. 8§ 53(b). Amazon is found, resides, transacts business, and has agents in
this state and district, and a portion of the affected commerce described herein has been carried
out in this state and district.

I11.  THE PARTIES

46.  Plaintiff FTC is an administrative agency of the United States Government
established, organized, and existing pursuant to the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41, et seq., with its
principal offices in the District of Columbia. The FTC is vested with authority and responsibility
for enforcing, among other laws, Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and is authorized
under Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to initiate court proceedings to enjoin
violations of any law the FTC enforces. This case is proper under Section 13(b) of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. 8 53(b), because the FTC has reason to believe that Amazon is violating, or is about to
violate, Section 5 of the FTC Act, making it appropriate, efficient, and suitable to file this action

in federal court with State Plaintiffs to seek the requested relief.

COMPLAINT - 12 FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
CASE NO. . -cv- 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20580

(202) 326-2222




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Case 2:23-cv-01495 Document 1 Filed 09/26/23 Page 17 of 172

47.  Plaintiff State of New York is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of New York is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the
people of the State of New York to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from
Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal
and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and New York Executive Law § 63(12),
to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by
anticompetitive conduct.

48.  Plaintiff State of Connecticut is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of Connecticut is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the
people of the State of Connecticut to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from
Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal
and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and the Connecticut Antitrust Act, Conn.
Gen. Stat. § 35-24 et seq., and the Attorney General, acting at the request of the Commissioner of
Consumer Protection, has the authority under the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, Conn.
Gen. Stat. § 42-110b et seq., to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and
remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.

49.  Plaintiff Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is a sovereign commonwealth state.
The Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is the chief legal officer for the
state and brings this action in the name and on behalf of the people of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania to protect the Commonwealth, its general economy, its residents, and consumers
from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has authority under state and
federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act, the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices

and Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. 88 201-4 and 201-4.1, and the Commonwealth Attorneys
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Act, 71 P.S. § 732-204(c), to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy
the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct and unfair and deceptive acts and practices.

50.  Plaintiff State of Delaware is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the State
of Delaware is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action in the name and on
behalf of the people of the State of Delaware to protect the state, its general economy, and its
residents from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has authority under
federal and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and Del. Code Ann. Tit. 6, § 2105,
to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by
anticompetitive conduct.

51.  Plaintiff State of Maine is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the State of
Maine is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action in the name and on behalf of
the people of the State of Maine to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from
Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has authority under state and
federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and the Maine Monopolies and Profiteering
Law, 10 M.R.S.A. 8 1104, to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy
the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.

52.  Plaintiff State of Maryland is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the State
of Maryland is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action in the name and on
behalf of the people of the State of Maryland to protect the state, its general economy, and its
residents from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has authority under
state and federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and Maryland Commercial Code
Ann. § 11-201 et seq., to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the

harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.
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53.  Plaintiff Commonwealth of Massachusetts is a sovereign state. The Attorney
General of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts is the chief legal officer for the state and brings
this action on behalf of the people of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to protect the state, its
general economy, and its residents from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney
General has the authority under federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act, to pursue
injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive
conduct.

54.  Plaintiff State of Michigan is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the State
of Michigan is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the people
of the State of Michigan to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from
Defendants’ unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal
and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and the Michigan Antitrust Reform Act,
MCL 445.771 et seq., to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the
harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.

55.  Plaintiff State of Minnesota is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of Minnesota is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the
people of the State of Minnesota to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from
Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal
and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and Minnesota Statute 8.31, to pursue
injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive
conduct.

56. Plaintiff State of Nevada is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the State
of Nevada is the chief legal officer for the state, and the Consumer Advocate is vested with the

authority to enforce Nevada’s antitrust laws. The Attorney General, by and through the
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Consumer Advocate, brings this action on behalf of the people of the State of Nevada to protect
the state, its general economy, and its residents from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The
Nevada Attorney General and the Consumer Advocate have the authority under federal and state
law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act, and Nev. Rev. Stat. 8§ 228.380 and 598A.160, to
pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by
anticompetitive conduct.

57.  Plaintiff State of New Hampshire is a sovereign state, acting through the Office of
the Attorney General, Consumer Protection and Antitrust Bureau to enforce state and federal
laws designed to protect free and open markets for the benefit of consumers. The Attorney
General brings this action on behalf of the State of New Hampshire to protect the state, its
general economy, and its consumers from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney
General has the authority under state and federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act
and New Hampshire Combinations and Monopolies Act, N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. ch. 356 et seq., to
pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by the
anticompetitive conduct.

58.  Plaintiff State of New Jersey is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of New Jersey is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action in the name and
on behalf of the people of the State of New Jersey to protect the state, its general economy, and
its residents from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has authority
under state and federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act, the New Jersey Antitrust
Act, New Jersey Statutes Annotated (“N.J.S.A.”) § 56:9-1 to -19 (“NJ ATA”), and the New
Jersey Consumer Fraud Act, N.J.S.A. 8 56:8-1 to -227 (“NJ CFA”), to pursue injunctive and
other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct and

unfair and deceptive acts and practices. The Director of the New Jersey Division of Consumer
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Affairs is charged with the responsibility of administering the NJ CFA on behalf of the Attorney
General. N.J.S.A. 52:17B-120; N.J.S.A. 52:17B-124. The Attorney General brings this action
for relief pursuant to his authority under the NJ ATA, specifically N.J.S.A. 56:9-6, 56:9-10(a),
56:9-12(b) and the NJ CFA, specifically N.J.S.A. 56:8-8, 56:8-11, and 56:8-19.

59.  Plaintiff State of New Mexico is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of New Mexico is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the
people of the State of New Mexico to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents
from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under
federal and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and Section 10 of the New Mexico
Antitrust Act, to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms
caused by anticompetitive conduct.

60.  Plaintiff State of Oklahoma is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of Oklahoma is the chief legal officer of the state and brings this action in the name and on
behalf of the people of the State of Oklahoma to protect the state, its general economy, and its
residents from Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has authority under
state and federal law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and the Oklahoma Antitrust
Reform Act, 15 79 O.S. §8 201, et seq., to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent
and remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.

61. Plaintiff State of Oregon is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the State
of Oregon is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the people of
the State of Oregon to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from Amazon’s
unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal and state law

including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and the Oregon Antitrust Law, Oregon Revised Statutes
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(“ORS”) 646.705 to ORS 646.836, to pursue injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and
remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.

62.  Plaintiff State of Rhode Island is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of Rhode Island is the chief legal officer for Rhode Island and brings this action on behalf
of the people of the State of Rhode Island to protect Rhode Islanders from Amazon’s unlawful
business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal and state law, including
Section 16 of the Clayton Act and Rhode Island General Laws § 6-13.1-1 et seq., to pursue all
available types of relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive conduct.

63.  Plaintiff State of Wisconsin is a sovereign state. The Attorney General of the
State of Wisconsin is the chief legal officer for the state and brings this action on behalf of the
people of the State of Wisconsin to protect the state, its general economy, and its residents from
Amazon’s unlawful business practices. The Attorney General has the authority under federal
and state law, including Section 16 of the Clayton Act and Wis. Stat. § 133.03, to pursue
injunctive and other equitable relief to prevent and remedy the harms caused by anticompetitive
conduct.

64. Defendant Amazon is a multinational online retail and technology company that
conducts business throughout the United States. Amazon is headquartered in Seattle,
Washington, with its principal place of business at 410 Terry Avenue North, Seattle, Washington
98109, and is organized and existing under the laws of Delaware. Unless otherwise specified,
“Amazon” refers to Amazon.com, Inc., and all corporate predecessors, subsidiaries, successors,
and affiliates.

IV.  AMAZON’S OPERATIONS

65.  Amazon is one of the largest companies in the world, ranked among the five

largest publicly traded companies by both market capitalization and revenue. Amazon’s
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business spans vast portions of the American economy, extending from its core of online retail
into media, cloud computing, brick-and-mortar grocery stores, an array of logistics and
operational services, and more. It has expanded in part through an acquisition spree, buying up
more than 100 companies in sectors spanning entertainment, grocery, and healthcare. Its reach
ranges from selling socks and making movies to running a pharmacy and operating datacenters
that house exabytes of data.

66. The key aspects of Amazon’s operations relevant to this Complaint are ifs:
(1) first-party Retail and third-party Marketplace business units; (2) public-facing online
superstore; (3) advertising services; (4) Prime subscription program; and (5) fulfillment service.

A. Amazon’s First-Party Retail And Third-Party Marketplace Business Units

67.  Amazon began as an online bookstore in 1994 and rapidly expanded into new
product categories: first DVDs and CDs, then electronics and toys, and then nearly everything.
In 2020, Amazon sold almost JJjjjjili] vnique products across virtually every conceivable
category to U.S. consumers.

68.  Amazon originally sold goods to shoppers by purchasing items wholesale and
reselling them on its website. Amazon calls its wholesale suppliers “vendors.” Today, Amazon
continues to sell a wide range of products through this type of vendor-retailer relationship, from
laundry detergent to sports equipment.

69.  Amazon also sells its own private label goods. These range from devices like
Amazon’s Kindle e-reader or Ring doorbell, to consumer products like batteries sold under the
“Amazon Basics” label, to products without any clear Amazon affiliation, such as dietary
supplements sold under the “Revly” label.

70. These two components, vendor-retailer and private label, make up Amazon’s

first-party retail business unit, which Amazon refers to collectively as Amazon “Retail.”
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71.  Amazon also runs what it calls its “Marketplace,” where other companies can sell
products directly to shoppers through its online store. Amazon calls third-party companies that
sell on Amazon “sellers,” and refers to sales by sellers as “Marketplace” sales.

72.  Amazon charges sellers four primary fees to sell on its Marketplace. First,
Amazon requires sellers to pay a selling fee, which can be a monthly fee or a fee for each item
sold. Second, Amazon charges all sellers a commission or “referral fee” based on the price of
each item sold on Amazon. Third, Amazon charges sellers for the use of Amazon’s fulfillment
and delivery services. Fourth, Amazon charges sellers for advertising services. While Amazon
also charges sellers other fees, these four types constitute over JJj% of the revenue Amazon takes
in from sellers. As a practical matter, most sellers must pay these four fees to make a significant
volume of sales on Amazon.

73. Amazon estimated that in 2022, it would take JJjjjjj%° of all sales revenue earned
by sellers who use its fulfillment service.

74. The Marketplace accelerated Amazon’s growth by allowing it to exponentially
expand the selection of products on Amazon without having to carry the risks of unsold
mnventory. Sellers, who range from small businesses that offer a single product to multinational
firms that sell thousands of products, ultimately bear that risk. As of the first quarter of 2021,
there were over ] active sellers on Amazon’s U.S. Marketplace.

75.  Amazon touts to its mnvestors that sellers on the Marketplace are “a key
contributor to the selection offered” to Amazon shoppers. Sellers offer a huge variety of items
for sale, from laptop computers to harnesses for walking pet chickens, complete with bowtie. In
2020, sellers offered more than JJjj% of the unique items available for sale on Amazon. Sellers’
products make up a growing majority of Amazon unit sales—60% in the second quarter of 2023,

up from 55% in 2021.
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76.  Amazon’s online superstore unites its Retail and Marketplace arms, with products
intermixed and presented to the public simultaneously and side-by-side. To a shopper browsing
on Amazon, there are no obvious differences between the types of listings, nor is there a way to
regularly shop for products sold only by Amazon Retail or Amazon Marketplace.

77.  Amazon has achieved unprecedented scale. In 2021, goods worth more than i
I Vcre sold through Amazon’s U.S. online store. That amount 1s larger than the 2021 gross
domestic product of Jjjjjj countries.

78.  Amazon achieved this astonishing scale in part by combining its Retail and
Marketplace arms. Amazon’s product selection imncludes popular and frequently purchased items
and a “long tail” made up of an immense variety of less-frequently purchased products. Products
offered by sellers on Amazon’s Marketplace contribute substantially to that “long tail.” More
generally, Amazon’s sellers dramatically increase Amazon’s product selection, which draws
more shoppers to Amazon, which, in turn, attracts more sellers.

79. Sellers have also made the Marketplace enormously profitable for Amazon.
Amazon’s internal documents show that profits from its U.S. Marketplace totaled more than [Jjj
I o 2021—nearly % of its total reported net mncome for that year.

B. Amazon’s Online Superstore

80. Shoppers typically reach Amazon using an internet browser or a dedicated
Amazon shopping application (“mobile app”) on an internet-connected device. Each month in
the United States, 126 million people visit Amazon on a mobile device, and more than 42 million
people access Amazon on a desktop computer.

81. There are more than i different products available for sale on Amazon. To
navigate this [l product catalog, Amazon offers a search bar. When shoppers enter a

search, Amazon’s systems generate a “Search Results Page” that displays product listings
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interspersed with advertisements (discussed in more detail in the next section). Product listings
on the Search Results Page typically show a name, picture, price, star rating, shipping speed
estimate, and Prime status (or lack thereof) for each item, as shown in Figures 3a (desktop) and

3b (mobile).
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Figure 3a. Amazon Search Results Page, Desktop Browser.
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Figure 3b. Amazon Search Results Page, Mobile App.

82. If shoppers want to learn more about or purchase an item displayed on the Search
Results Page, they must click the product listing, which brings them to the fiDetail Page0¢ for that
item. An itemds Detail Page typically includes a detailed product description, additional pictures,
product dimensions or specifications, and customer-generated ratings and reviews.

83. Importantly, the Detail Page usually includes a fiBuy Box.0 The Buy Box
displays a single offer for that specific item, as shown in Figures 4a (desktop) and 4b (mobile).
Shoppers can use the Buy Box to add the displayed item into their online shopping cart (AAdd to

Carto) or buy the item immediately (iBuy Nowo).
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